1996

# Joos v. Joos : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has Appellant Jurisdiction over appeals from District Court involving domestic relations, including divorce pursuant to Utah Code Section 78-2a-3(2) (h).

## ISSUES

**A - With grounds in dispute, did the Trial Court err by placing my wife and I in adversarial roles? *And***

**With grounds in dispute, did the Trial Court err by failing to provide opportunity through the Court to reconcile before trial by, but not limited to, conciliation?**

Legal Issue - Correction of Error Standard

Authority - First Impression Case

Minute Entry of Denials (R.153) (Refers to page # in record)

Renewed Objection at Trial (R.287)

**B - Did the Trial Court err in granting divorce without showing irreparable breakdown of the marriage?**

Legal Issue - Correction of Error Standard

Authority - 55 ALR 3d 581 (R.173-209)<sup>1</sup>

Continuing Objection at Trial - (R.298)

**C - Is Utah Code 30-3-1(3) (h) "Irreconcilable Differences of the Marriage" unconstitutional?**

Legal Issue - Correction of Error Standard

Authority - First Impression for Utah - 55 ALR 3d 581 (R.173-209)

---

<sup>1</sup> Please note - There are numerous citations in this brief to the record of pages 159-225. For your convenience, these pages are included in the Addendum of this brief.

The above errors take root in this bad law that caused the Trial Court to ignore basic rights of our Constitution, allows third party disruption of the marriage contract, allows unilateral rather than no-fault dissolution of the marriage contract and other faults for which it should be declared void.

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

**A - Constitution of the United States of America.**

1. **Preamble.** We the people of the United States, in order to form a more perfect union, establish justice, insure domestic tranquility, provide for the common defense, promote the general welfare, and secure the blessings of liberty to ourselves and our posterity, do ordain and establish this Constitution for the United States of America.

2. **Amendment XIV, Section I.** ...No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

**B - Constitution of Utah.**

1. **Preamble.** Grateful to Almighty God for life and liberty, we, the people of Utah, in order to secure and perpetuate the principles of free government, do ordain and establish this Constitution.

2. **Article I, Section I.** All men have the inherent and inalienable right to enjoy and defend their lives and liberties; to acquire, possess and protect property; to worship according to the dictates of their consciences; to assemble peaceably, protest against wrongs, and petition for redress of grievances; to communicate freely their thoughts and opinions being responsible for the abuse of that right.

3. **Article I, Section 7.** No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law.

4. **Article I, Section 18.** No bill of attainder, ex poste facto law, or law impairing the obligation of contracts shall be passed.

5. **Article I, Section 25.** The enumeration of rights shall not be construed to impair or deny others retained by the people.

6. **Article I, Section 27.** Frequent recurrence to fundamental principles is essential to the security of individual rights and the perpetuity of free government.

**DETERMINATIVE STATUTES**

1 - **Utah Code 30-3-1(1)** Proceedings in divorce are commenced and conducted as provided by law for the proceedings in civil causes, except as provided in this chapter.

2 - **Utah Code 30-3-1(3)(h)** Irreconcilable differences of the marriage.

3 - **Utah Code 30-3-4(1)(b)** A decree of divorce may not be granted upon default or otherwise except upon legal evidence taken in the cause.

4 - **Utah Code 30-3-4(1)(d)** ...The Court or the Commissioner in all divorce cases shall enter the decree upon the evidence or, in the case of a decree after default of the defendant, upon the plaintiff's affidavit.

5 - **Utah Code 30-3-11.1 — Family Court Act — Purpose.** It is the public policy of the State of Utah to strengthen the family life foundation of our society and reduce the social and economic costs to the State resulting from broken homes and to take reasonable measures to preserve marriages, particularly where minor children are involved. The purposes of this act are to protect the rights of children and to promote the public welfare by preserving and protecting family life and the institution of matrimony by providing the courts with further assistance for family counseling, the reconciliation of spouses and the amicable settlement of domestic and family controversies.

6 - **Utah Code 30-3-12 - Courts to exercise family counseling powers.** Each district Court of the respective judicial

districts, while sitting in matters of divorce, annulment, separate maintenance, child custody, alimony and support in connection therewith, child custody in habeas corpus proceedings, and adoptions, shall exercise the family counseling powers conferred by this act.

**7 - Utah Code 30-3-16.1 - Jurisdiction of family court division - powers.** Whenever any controversy exists between spouses which may, unless a reconciliation is achieved, result in the dissolution or annulment of the marriage or in the disruption of the household, and there is a child of the spouses or either of them under the age of 17 years whose welfare might be affected, the family court division of the district court shall have jurisdiction over the controversy, over the parties and over all persons having any relation to the controversy and may compel attendance before the Court or a domestic relations counselor of the parties or other persons related to the controversy. The court may make orders in divorce or conciliation proceeding as it deems necessary for the protection of the family interests.

**8 - Utah Code 30-3-16.2. Petition for conciliation.** Prior to the filing of any action for divorce, annulment, or separate maintenance, either spouse or both spouses may file a petition for conciliation in the family court division invoking the jurisdiction of the court for the purpose of preserving the marriage by effecting a reconciliation between the parties or an amicable settlement of the controversy between them so as to avoid litigation over the issues involved.

**9 - Utah Code 30-3-16.7 - Effect of petition - pendency of action.** ...the pendency of an action for divorce, annulment of marriage or separate maintenance shall not prevent either party to the action from filing a petition for conciliation under this act, either on his own or at the request or direction of the court as authorized by Section 30-3-17; and the filing of a petition for conciliation shall stay for a period of 60 days, unless the court otherwise orders, any trial or default hearing upon the complaint.

**10 - Utah Code 30-3-17 - Power and jurisdiction of judge.** The judge of a district court may counsel either spouse or both and may in his discretion require one or both of them to appear before him and, in those counties where a domestic

relations counselor has been appointed pursuant to this act, require them to file a petition for conciliation and to appear before such counselor, or may recommend the aid of a physician, psychiatrist, psychologist, social service worker or other specialists or scientific expert, or the pastor, bishop or presiding officer of any religious denomination to which the parties may belong. The power and jurisdiction granted by this act shall be in addition to that presently exercised by the district courts and shall not be in limitation thereof.

#### DETERMINATIVE RULES

##### 1. Utah Rules of evidence.

**Rule 402. Relevant evidence generally admissible; irrelevant evidence inadmissible.** All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of the State of Utah, statute, or by these rules, or by other rules applicable in courts of this state. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.

#### DETERMINATIVE CODE

1 - Code of judicial conduct, canon 3: A judge shall perform the duties of the office impartially and diligently.

**A - Canon 3 B(5)** A judge shall perform judicial duties without bias or prejudice. A judge shall not, in the performance of judicial duties, by words or conduct manifest bias or prejudice, including but not limited to bias or prejudice based upon race, sex, religion, national origin, disability, age, sexual orientation or socioeconomic status, and should not permit, and shall use all reasonable efforts to deter, staff, court officials and others subject to judicial direction and control from doing so. A judge should be alert to avoid behavior that may be perceived as prejudicial.

**B - Canon 3 E. (1)** A judge shall enter a disqualification in a proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to instances where: (a) the judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party or a party's lawyer, a strong

personal bias involving an issue in a case, or personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the proceedings.

**DETERMINATIVE TREATISE**

**"THE ABOLITION OF MARRIAGE, HOW WE DESTROY LASTING LOVE,"** by Maggie Gallagher, Published in 1996. Bound in the addendum - Pages 1-300 (copied with special permission from the publisher).

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**(a) Nature of the case** - My name is Dan Rodney Joos, defendant and appellant. My wife's name is Piper Colleen Joos, plaintiff and appellee. Over a dozen years of a productive and happy marriage were followed by a period of great struggle with challenges beyond our control (R.163). During that time outside parties (others) upset Piper with criticism (R.162,168) and domination (R.398,458,459). Others had wanted Piper to marry someone else (R.162), agreed to testify in court against me over a year before she filed for divorce (R.162), and told her to get a divorce before she ever filed (R.167). Before causing our separation, others had her stay in their homes and keep the children from me (R.357). Others threw me out of our home before she filed for divorce (R.162,405), and have paid her to get a divorce (R.344).

Instead of standing for the importance and sanctity of marriage for ourselves, the children, and society, or recognizing the above interference, and allowing us the opportunity to preserve our family, the Trial Court issued a decree of divorce (R.504).

**(b) Course of proceedings**

11-14-95 (R.1) Complaint filed citing irreconcilable differences.

1-10-96 (R.47) Answer denying irreconcilable differences exist.

1-26-96 (R.52) To accommodate reconciliation I ask that the restraining order on visitation not be imposed.

2-1-96 (R.57-59) Child abuse is alleged.

2-1-96 (R.56) I am restrained from seeing my wife.

3-20-96 (R.83) Guardian ad litem finds no abuse, expresses concern and recommends that we, with our children, enter counseling.

3-25-96 (R.99) Case certified for trial by Mr. Fankhauser.

4-17-96 (R.101) I request the Court to intervene to preserve marriage (conciliation).

5-1-96 (R.104) Commissioner tells Court I refuse to negotiate for divorce, denies petition for conciliation and asks the District Court to review.

8-22-96 (R.153) District Court denies my request for a hearing and denies conciliation petition.

9-6-96 (R.159-172) I deliver, as previously arranged with Trial Court Clerk, my own written memorandum for the Trial Judge.

9-6-96 (R.284) Trial Judge refuses to consider my memorandum.

9-6-96 (R.285-286) Trial Judge says I may speak to the Court only if I am willing for my counsel not to sit with me.

9-6-96 (R.297) Trial Judge refuses to limit evidence to no-fault issues.

9-6-96 (R.395,423,424,425,439) Trial Judge limits testimony and evidence in favor of preserving the marriage.

9-6-96 (R.490) Trial Judge again refuses to consider my memorandum, or to let me speak to the Court before ruling.

9-6-96 (R.500) Trial Judge refuses to consider my memorandum.

9-6-96 (R.504) Trial Judge grants divorce.

(c) **Disposition in the Trial Court.** Trial Judge refuses to consider preserving the marriage and grants divorce (R.156).

(d) **Statement of facts relevant to the issues presented for review.**

1. Piper and I were married August 4, 1978 in a sacred manner and place, with a determination to live our lives forever in the way outlined in the book, "Marriage" (R.171).

2. The problems in marriage remained minor, until a few years ago when multiple tragedies and difficulties beset us (R.451).

3. There has been a great deal of interference, and untruths heaped upon us, from outside parties (others) (R.162,168).

4. Others, or the Courts, never succeeded in turning me against Piper, or our vows (R.168).

5. Our's has been recognized as a superior marriage by many people (R.160).

6. The Trial Court made no effort or allowance for us to use legislative mandated statutes to preserve our marriage.

7. The Trial Court decreed a divorce on no-fault grounds showing only fault and personal preference without showing "the parties differences are so great that no reasonable effort would serve to reconcile them" (R.176).

8. This government took away my wife, my family, my children, my home, my property and my income, without allowing me a single opportunity to save this family through the Courts, or to speak freely

to a judge in the process. I only got to answer a bunch of questions, most of which were irrelevant to preserving our family.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Marriage and family have existed for millennia by the support of society, culture and government as the best way to raise children and attain peace, prosperity and happiness in this life. Our governments and constitutions were founded on such a belief. Marriage takes two different, unrelated people and makes the tremendous effort to join them as one body, heart and soul. Only with great social and cultural support and energy can this aspiration be made true<sup>2</sup>.

The State of Utah has long recognized the social need to avoid divorce and to strengthen marriage. Most of our gravest problems of crime, poverty, welfare and abuse mount with the erosion of marriage. We must all make a strong stand for marriage for American civilization to stand at all. We cannot continue to devalue marriage to be merely an alternative lifestyle - it is the foundation of all we are, or can be. This legal union is not purely a private act, but a social institution that is being destroyed by no-fault divorce.

"Irreconcilable differences of the marriage" is the cause of the dissolution of this, and many other marriages. Society and State need to ask what will the end result be if this marriage ends? Where will these children be in 20 years? What about all the relatives, neighbors and friends who will lose faith in marriage? How many young men will fail to commit to marriage? How many people will enter into a marriage

---

<sup>2</sup> This paragraph and many that follow derives much from the treatise on marriage: **"The Abolition of Marriage, How we Destroy Lasting Love"**, by Maggie Gallagher, published 1996. (See Addendum)

contract with only one foot - watching out for themselves instead of their spouse?

The Trial Court used this law of "irreconcilable differences" to deny the most basic of rights, and destroy this family.

It amazes me that the Trial Judge had no difficulty exercising powers to reconcile an 'irreconcilable divorce' and yet could not see a way to use these powers, with additional powers granted by the legislature, to save a troubled marriage. The very process the courts choose of adversarial methods and litigation extinguishes the life of all marriages that come to it. This marriage is exceptional because we are on appeal to save this family, rather than fight over money, possessions or children.

This Court has a rare opportunity it may never have again, to re-enthroned the importance of commitment to marriage and to change procedures to save marriages. Why should others be able to condemn my wife to a life of fewer choices, mandatory employment and likely loneliness, and have the Trial Court rubber stamp what others told her to do? I will stand with love for Piper's welfare and well-being always, because that is what I promised when we were united in love and matrimony. The courts should also stand for this true love that is lacking in society, and reunite this family.

#### DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

This is not written by a lawyer, and as I try to preserve our family, I ask not to be expected to talk and argue like a lawyer.

As mentioned before, my name is Dan Rodney Joos (Defendant and Appellant) and my wife's name is Piper Colleen Joos (Plaintiff and

Appellee). We have been involved in this action for one and a half years with the courts, and this is my first opportunity to speak freely to a judge. That is one reason I am writing this brief myself.

Instructions given me for this argument include: (1) limit remarks to what is in the record, (2) try to act as an "Educator," and (3) be willing to discuss "policy considerations" on appeal.

It does not take much searching to obtain a wealth of knowledge on a subject as common and broad as marriage and divorce. Volume 7 No. 4 (1961) Utah Law Review is helpful. It has the companion article, also by Brigitte M. Bodenheimer, to the article included in the record (R.210-225).<sup>3</sup> It shows past success of courts preserving marriages in an article entitled, "The Utah Marriage Counseling Experiment: An Account of Changes in Divorce Law and Procedure."

"Judicial Profiles" and "Views From the Bench," articles from the Utah Bar Journal repeatedly echo common themes from the judges themselves. Drawing battle lines and creating adversaries of family members greatly diminishes judges' effectiveness and ability to craft solutions that anyone is happy with in their Courts. Litigation and marriage DO NOT MIX.

Very helpful to me, a commoner with no previous experience in the legal profession, was to study divorce cases themselves at the Trial Court level. Perhaps it is common knowledge to all lawyers and judges, but to read the past thirty years of so many divorce cases has been very insightful to me to see how people think and feel, and to watch patterns emerge. I paid particular attention to complaints and

---

<sup>3</sup> See Addendum

grounds, but also saw the universal unhappiness all sides felt in the end result of divorce.

One last education and policy help. People use the subject of marriage like the Constitution; they praise and use it when it suits their needs and ignore it when it does not. Notice the difference the United States Supreme Court speaks of marriage as shown in the book, "The Abolition of Marriage, How we Destroy Lasting Love," by Maggie Gallagher. It is interesting that the Supreme Court is discussing the same subject in both cases, but to two different groups of people. It says, beginning on page 132:

"This is the distance traveled in just a few short years by the Supreme Court. In the famous 1965 case of *Griswold v. Connecticut*, the Court declared that, in marriage, "We deal with a right of privacy older than the Bill of Rights, older than our political parties, older than our school system. Marriage is a coming together for better or for worse, hopefully enduring, and intimate to the degree of being sacred.' But in 1972, in *Eisenstadt v. Baird*, the Court had no problem dissolving the sacred union: 'Yet the marital couple is not an independent entity with a mind and heart of its own, but an association of two individuals each with separate intellectual and emotional make-up. If the right of privacy means anything, it is the right of the *individual*, married or single, to be free from unwanted government intrusion'."

The point is - our legislature and society in Utah have always manifested their high regard for marriage - a public institution that is public because it provides the only safe way to raise children. We do not need to follow other states or courts in their definition of marriage, because marriage existed long before them all. Holy matrimony is the foundation on which rests even our great constitutions. States do not define marriage and, for the betterment

of society, Utah may need to set a higher standard and example, like we do in other areas, in firmly supporting intact families. Not too long ago everybody knew what marriage was, now everyone seems to be confused about what it is, why one should get married and stay married, or what benefits should be given marriage.

### ISSUE

A - With grounds in dispute, did the Trial Court err by placing my wife and I in adversarial roles?      **and**

With grounds in dispute, did the Trial Court err by failing to provide opportunity to reconcile through the Court before trial by, but not limited to, conciliation?

When families are in crises, litigation before the Courts is the worst solution to their problems. This has been stated so often by so many people that it is common knowledge. This issue is before the Court of Appeals for the first time because litigation effectively destroyed all other marriages that came into this system, and found no way to escape.

In an example by Brigitte M. Bodenheimer (R.212) she tells how two lawyers allowed an experiment in a marital crisis with their clients rather than draw the battle lines that always occur with a divorce suit. She reports:

"... in the final stages of the interview the couple found a common ground and formed a kind of alliance against the neighbor, who they felt had lied to them both.

"Doctors Langsley and Kaplan report that, 'the two lawyers had been shaken by the interview'. The husband's attorney realized that the neighbor was not the only source of friction and became disenchanted with his client as a

martyr. The wife's lawyer began to be sympathetic with Mr. Simpson's plight and now wanted a reconciliation: 'Not completely in jest, they spoke of switching clients. They agreed to cooperate with one another in helping the Simpsons solve their problems.'

"The joint interview had served to resolve the crisis."

In the complaint for divorce for our case it says simply (R.1):

*3. During the course of the marriage the parties have developed irreconcilable differences. Plaintiff believes she can no longer continue in the marital relationship.*

Although my answer (R.47) denies such, the District Court, from the filing of the complaint, treated me guilty as charged. This shows a glaring defect of "irreconcilable differences." Had I been accused on one of the fault grounds of divorce, the Court would have had to investigate further into the matter. The Court instead, accepted as fact my wife's statement and simply used as evidence from that point, "If she says so, it must be so." "Irreconcilable differences" gave the Court the right to ignore everything I have said to preserve the marriage and to force us to a divorce.

Utah Code 30-3-4(1)(b) and 30-3-4-(1)(d) clearly say twice that the Court can only grant a divorce based on the evidence. (This brief, page 3) (hereafter referred to as P.)

Because of the three month waiting period before any hearing is allowed to present evidence, the Trial Court should have spent that time to move quickly to solve the marital crisis and to preserve the family.

Mrs. Bodenheimer states further(R.213) exactly the same events that happened to our family:<sup>4</sup>

"The general observation of Doctors Langsley and Kaplan based on their experience with a large number of marital conflict situations are of value to the legal profession. Their findings show: the stress which produces separation is rarely just chronic dissatisfaction with the relationship. Often there is entry of some new features into the conflict....**one spouse, angry over a repetition of chronic conflict, seeks and finds someone else who encourages separation** as the solution." (Emphasis added).

These other people unknowingly fell into the same trap shown on this page (R.213):

**"They focus only on the old problems** that the family has lived with all these years. To accept their assessment of the problem's chronicity would be to **miss the point of crisis** and to assume that the marriage has always been as bad as it seems at the time" (Emphasis added).

Instead of doing the same thing as the people trying to break up our family, and putting us on the railroad to divorce, the Court should have used its special powers, given by the legislature, to reconcile during the waiting period. As further shown in the record, page 213, the Court should have reopened communication and eliminated the "flame fanners" who would not support the marriage. How easily it could have used those special powers to order a few changes and adjustments on our parts in the children's, our own and society's interest of keeping the family intact.

Piper and I had first hand experience in this role only a few years ago. A long time family friend came to our home to tell us that

---

<sup>4</sup> Kindly remember that because of so many references to the record of pages 159-225, these pages are provided conveniently in the addendum.

she was going to get a divorce. She was as angry as Piper ever was, but we refused to side with her against her husband. I mocked her when she said things I *knew* were not true, and she returned home and their family was saved. Their young daughters still have a father who returns home every night after work. Intervention in the crisis is intense, but is "relatively brief" (R.211, 216).

The Court never allowed Piper this intervention that the "flame fanners" were preventing her from having. As one judge's experience shows (R.213-214):

".... became saddened and disturbed by the spectacle of human misery parading before him daily in the "sham battle" of adversary proceedings with but one adversary. He began to ask questions from the bench and found that people with all kinds of troubles were seeking help."

He then states that what he had been doing was "to bury a live corpse" and that "Honest efforts at marriage mending or amicable adjustments" would continue to be frustrated as long as divorce law retained the "twin syndromes of the accusatory approach and the adversary procedures."

This brief (P.6-7) shows clearly how the Court railroaded the marriage to divorce without ever finding out what the crisis was (R.224), what Piper was trying to communicate (R.224), or the "turning point" that the Court was being asked to play in the marital relationship (R.224).

The Trial Court did as it was warned not to do - decreed "divorce without breakdown" (R.224). Utah Code 30-3-12 clearly states (P.3-4):

"Each District Court of the respective judicial districts, while sitting in matters of divorce....SHALL exercise the family counseling powers conferred by this act."

There is no discretion in it or in our stated public policy (P.3);  
UC 30-3-11.1):

"...To take reasonable measures to preserve marriages... preserving and protecting family life and the institution of matrimony...the reconciliation of spouses and the amicable settlement of domestic and family controversies."

I asked from the beginning that there be no restraining order on visitation for the exact purpose of accommodating reconciliation (R.52). With child abuse alleged (R.57-59) the Court must have felt it desirable to ignore my request and restrained me from seeing my wife (R.56).

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