1996

Joos v. Joos : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

DENIAL OF DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR CONCILIATION BY THE TRIAL COURT WAS DISCRETIONARY AND NOT ERROR

Defendant/Appellant filed his Petition for Conciliation on

April 17, 1996, more than four (4) months after commencement of the action and after Notice of the Pre-trial Settlement Conference before Domestic Relations Commissioner, Lisa A. Jones. (R. 101-103; 105-106) The Third District Court had not established a Family Court Division, nor appointed a Domestic Relations Counselor. (See Section 30-3-15.1, U.C.A. Amended) Section 30-3-13.1, Utah Code Annotated, as Amended, provides:

A Family Court Division of the District Court may be established with the consent of the County Legislative body in a County in which the District Court determines that the social conditions in the County and number of Domestic Relations cases in the Courts require use of the procedures provided for in this Act, in order to give full and property consideration to such cases and to effectuate the purposes of this Act.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 30-3-15.2 of the Family Court Act relating to powers of Domestic Relation counselors, had been repealed, effective April 27, 1992. Absent the establishment of a family Court division by the Third District Court and the appointment of a Domestic Relations counselor, denial of Defendant's Petition for Conciliation by Domestic Relations Commissioner, Lisa A. Jones, and thereafter, Judge Sandra N. Peuler, denying Defendant's Objection to the Commissioner's Order, was proper, under the circumstances existing and within the discretionary authority provided by the Act. Section 30-3-16.7, U.C.A. of the Act, provides for a stay of a pending action, when a Petition for Conciliation is filed, for a period of sixty (60) days, unless the Court otherwise orders. (emphasis added)

Assuming the District Court had established a Family Court Division, and appointed a Domestic Relations counselor, Section 30-3-17, U.C.A. of the Act, "POWER AND JURISDICTION OF JUDGE" clearly provides discretionary authority to the Court with regard to filing a Petition for Conciliation and with respect to recommending the aid of a psychiatrist, psychologist or other specialist, or a religious representative by use of the word "MAY" adding, "the power and jurisdiction granted by this Act shall be in addition to that presently exercised by the District Court's and shall not be in limitation thereof." (emphasis added) The Court of Appeals, in rendering its decision in A.E. v. Crstan, 13 Ut. Adv. Rep. 3, at page 5, cited the Utah Supreme Court case of Kennecott Copper Corporation v. Salt Lake County, 575 P.2d 705 (Utah 1978) and acknowledged that the term "shall" may be either discretionary or mandatory. It is clear from reading of Section 30-3-16.7, U.C.A. of the Act, use of the word "shall" is discretionary where the District Court is given the authority and alternative to, "otherwise order." Use of the word "may" in Section 30-3-17, U.C.A. of the Act, is a clear indication of the discretionary authority given to the Court. Where, as here, the Third District Court had not established a Family Court Division, nor appointed a Domestic Relations counselor, denial of Defendant/Appellant's Petition for Conciliation by the District Court was proper, under the circumstances, and well within its discretionary authority.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF IRRECONCILABLE DIFFERENCES IS SUPPORTED BY THE SUBSTANTIAL WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL

As a general rule, the trial Court is afforded broad discretion in domestic relation cases. When the Plaintiff presents sufficient, substantial evidence to support grounds for divorce, the Court should grant a divorce. Anderson v. Anderson (supra) All that is required is that the irreconcilable differences exist. Grosskopf v. Grosskopf, 672 P.2d 814 (Wy 1984)

Defendant's attack on the trial Court's ruling is a challenge to the Court's findings of fact. To successfully attack a finding of fact, Defendant, as Appellant, must first marshall all the evidence supporting the finding and then demonstrate that even if viewed in the light most favorable to the trial Court, the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding. Christensen v. Munns (supra); Doelle v. Bradley, 784 P.2d 1176, 1178 (Ut. 1989)

Legal sufficiency of the evidence is determined under Rule 52(a) U.R.C.P., which provides:

"Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence shall not be set aside unless "clearly erroneous" and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial Court to judge the creditability of the witnesses."

Richens v. Delbert Chipman & Sons Co. 817 P.2d 382 (Ut. Ct. App. 1991); Doelle v. Bradley (supra). The finding of the trial Court and its conclusion that irreconcilable differences existed between the parties is supported by the trial transcript of Plaintiff's testimony and that of Defendant. During the marriage the Defendant was controlling, emotionally abusive, critical of her, being judgmental, preaching to her, causing her to feel unworthy. (T. 294-295) Defendant separated, voluntarily, from her and the family in August, 1995, while the parties were engaged in marriage counselling, staying away 2 1/2 months. (T. 296) At the time Defendant separated, there was \$5.00 in the checking account and Plaintiff was not employed, she not having worked outside of the home during the marriage. Defendant did not send money for support of the family. She supported the family by holding a yard sell and working two (2) jobs which was very hard physically and emotionally. (T. 298-299) Defendant disapproved of her working outside the home, stating by letter sent to her that she was "condemned." (T. 300) Plaintiff's desire to continue working and Defendant's disapproval of her working, continued and still existed at the time of trial. (T. 301; 469) There were financial differences that persisted throughout the marriage. (T. 301; 365; 376; 381) The trial Court, the Honorable Sandra N. Peuler, found from all of the testimony and evidence presented, Plaintiff had set forth sufficient basis for a divorce to be granted on the grounds

of irreconcilable differences. That the differences included her objection to Defendant's treatment of the children, his being critical of her, preaching to her, and disagreement over how finances were handled. That the parties have disagreed on how they should live their lives. Although the Defendant characterizes the differences that existed to be minor, and believes that the marriage can be reconciled, it takes two to make that commitment. The Court found that Plaintiff had concluded that their differences are so great that no reasonable effort would reconcile them. (T. 504-505).

Defendant/Appellant has not marshalled the evidence in support of the trial Court's findings or demonstrated that the evidence supporting the findings is legally insufficient. Although Defendant provided conflicting testimony, a trial Court's factual finding is deemed "clearly erroneous" only if it is against the clear weight of the evidence. Doelle v. Bradley, (supra). The challenged finding of irreconcilable differences is not "clearly erroneous" and therefore no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial Court and its finding and ruling of irreconcilable differences should not be disturbed.

POINT III

**DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT SECTION 30-3-1(3)(h)
UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, AS AMENDED, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL
IS WITHOUT MERIT**

The issue of the constitutionality of Section 30-3-1(3)(h), U.C.A. was not plead or raised by Defendant at trial. To preserve an issue for Appeal, a party must timely bring the issue to the attention of the trial Court, thus providing the Court an opportunity to rule on the issue's merits. Lebaron & Associates v. NEC Information Systems, 823 P.2d 479 (Ut. Ct. App. 1991) Turtle Management, Inc. v. Haggis Management, Inc., 645 P.2d 667, 672 (Ut. 1982). Issues not raised in the trial Court in timely fashion are deemed waived, precluding the Appellate Court from considering their merits on Appeal. Salt Lake County v. Carlston, 776 P.2d 653, 655 (Ut. Ct. App. 1989).

The authority and power to regulate marriage and divorce is with the State. The only grounds for divorce are those specified by statute. Statutes providing for dissolution of marriage on grounds of irreconcilable differences, have been held to be valid. Defendant/Appellant has not provided legal authority to support his position that Section 30-3-1(3)(h), U.C.A. is unconstitutional. In fact, the Addendum attached to Defendant/Appellant's Brief at R. 175 states:

The validity of marriage dissolution statutes of this nature (irreconcilable differences) has been attacked in several instances on such grounds as improper delegation of the legislative power, denial of due process of law, impairment of the obligation of contract and unconstitutional vagueness of statutory language, but no dissolution of marriage act of the type here under consideration has been held invalid as of this writing (emphasis added) Citing 21 ALR 2d 267 and 58 ALR 2d 1218

Defendant acknowledges this quote from his Addendum in his Brief at page 29. It appears from his Brief that he basis his claim of unconstitutionality in part on religious grounds. Defendant had his day in Court and was afforded the due process guaranteed by the Utah Constitution. The Court, hearing all of the testimony presented and in a position to judge the creditability of the witnesses, determined that sufficient, substantial evidence had been presented to support granting Plaintiff a Decree of Divorce on the grounds of irreconcilable differences. (T. 504-505) Defendant's Appeal on this issue should fail and be rejected by the Court of Appeals.


CONCLUSION

Defendant has failed to meet his burden of showing abuse of discretion by a clear preponderance under the clearly erroneous standard. The finding and ruling of the trial Court of irreconcilable differences is supported by substantial, legally sufficient evidence. The denial of the Defendant's Petition for Conciliation by the District Court was proper, under the circumstances, and within its discretionary authority. Absent abuse of discretion, there is no error. Defendant/Appellant, having failed to plead or raise the constitutionality of Section 30-3-1(3)(h), Utah Code Annotated, is deemed waived, precluding the Appellate Court from considering this issue on its merits. The

authority and power of the State to regulate marriage and divorce is not in dispute. The statutes providing for dissolution of marriage on the grounds of irreconcilable differences, have been held to be valid.

As a matter of law, Plaintiff having been awarded attorney's fees in the lower Court, should be awarded attorney's fees for this Appeal. Defendant's Appeal of the lower Court's ruling and decision should be denied in all particulars.